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Summary

Because the federal government relies heavily on contractors to supply it with goods and services, fraud by these contractors potentially costs the government billions of dollars annually. Detecting, prosecuting, and deterring contractor fraud poses a challenge to federal agencies, which often possess limited resources. To combat contractor fraud, Congress has enacted several statutes that allow the federal government—and in some instances, private parties—to recover damages, civil penalties, or forfeitures against parties that make false or fraudulent claims for payment or engage in other misconduct. These statutes may impose civil liability for conduct that does not amount to fraud under traditional common law definitions and potentially allow for significant recoveries.

Generally, the False Claims Act (FCA) authorizes the Attorney General, as well as certain private parties, to bring a civil action against "any person" who makes a false claim for payment from the government. Recently, some courts have held that claims for payment that are not explicitly false may become false by implication because of a party's actions or omissions prior to contract formation or during contract performance. However, some of these same courts have expressed concerns that such theories could lead to liability for ordinary breaches of contract or insignificant regulatory violations, and have thus imposed limitations on their use by the government or private parties that sue on behalf of the government. Other recent regulatory and judicial developments may also affect contractors' potential exposure to civil liability and damages under the FCA.

The Contract Disputes Act (CDA) sets forth procedures for the resolution of claims and disputes involving certain contracts awarded by executive agencies. The CDA contains an anti-fraud remedy because of concerns that contractors would submit inflated claims during contract disputes as a "negotiating tactic," leading the government to settle these claims instead of using its limited resources to evaluate them on the merits. The Federal Circuit's notable decision in Daewoo Engineering Co., Ltd. v. United States demonstrates that the CDA's anti-fraud provision may result in a significant civil penalty for a contractor that submits a fraudulent claim to the government in an effort to extract a settlement offer.

Under the Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act (FFCA), a contractor that brings a fraudulent contract claim against the government in the Court of Federal Claims (COFC) may have to forfeit all of its claims under the contract. Courts disagree over whether fraud sufficient for forfeiture may relate to the execution or performance of the contract in addition to submission of a claim.

The Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act (PFCRA) provides an administrative process under which certain federal agencies may impose civil remedies or assessments on "persons" who knowingly make false, fraudulent, or fictitious claims or statements to the agencies in "small-dollar cases" of fraud that the Department of Justice (DOJ) declines to pursue in court. Few federal agencies use the PFCRA, leading some to recommend that, among other things, Congress raise the act's jurisdictional cap and civil penalty limit; allow agencies to retain recovered funds; and simplify the act's procedural requirements.

Congress is perennially interested in the scope of federal civil fraud remedy statutes. In order to be effective, these statutes must be broad enough to punish and deter fraud that often evades detection, wastes taxpayer funds, and negatively impacts government programs. On the other hand, if courts interpret a fraud statute so broadly that it imposes civil liability on contractors for minor regulatory violations or ordinary breaches of contract, contractors may decline to compete for government contracts, potentially leading to higher prices for the government.
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Introduction

The federal government relies heavily on contractors to supply it with goods and services.1 Each year, fraud by these contractors potentially costs the government billions of dollars.2 Detecting, prosecuting, and deterring contractor fraud poses a challenge to federal agencies, which often possess limited resources.3 Contractor fraud comes in many forms, including false or fraudulent claims for payment made under a contract or as part of the contract disputes process;4 false statements;5 bid rigging; defective pricing; cost mischarging; product substitution; and false certification of small business size or status.6

Congressional efforts to deter contractor fraud extend at least as far back as the passage of the False Claims Act (FCA) during the Civil War.7 Since that time, Congress has enacted several statutes that allow the federal government—and in some instances, private parties—to recover damages, civil penalties, or forfeitures for false or fraudulent claims for payment and other misconduct.8 Since the passage of the FCA, Members of Congress, courts, and others have continued to debate the proper scope of liability under these civil fraud statutes.9

Recoveries of large damage awards and penalties by the government or private parties under these statutes have brought new attention to this debate. For example, in FY2013, the Department of Justice (DOJ) recovered about $3.8 billion in settlements and judgments under the FCA, which represents the federal government's primary civil fraud remedy.10 Of this amount, recoveries from procurement fraud cases accounted for a record $890 million.11 The government has also recovered large civil penalties and forfeitures from contractors who submit fraudulent claims for payment as part of the contract disputes process, including in a recent case in which the Federal Circuit affirmed the Court of Federal Claims' (COFC's) assessment of a $50.6 million civil penalty against a contractor under the Contract Disputes Act's (CDA's) anti-fraud provision12 and rendered judgment of forfeiture of a $13.3 million contractor claim under the Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act (FFCA).13 Some federal statutory civil fraud remedies may be cumulative,14 raising the possibility that the government could potentially recover significant sums, particularly if it suffers damages.15

In addition to the significant damage awards that plaintiffs may recover under some of these statutes, courts may find a contractor civilly liable under these laws for conduct that may not amount to fraud under traditional common law definitions.16 Although many provisions in federal civil fraud statutes require the existence of a "claim" for payment from the government,17 the statutes may impose civil penalties and forfeitures even when the government has not relied on, or suffered damages from, the claim.18 Moreover, recent statutory and judicial developments under the FCA have reduced the level of "knowledge" that a defendant must possess in order to be liable and extended the scope of the act to cover a wider range of conduct than the common law typically encompasses.19

Congress has an interest in the scope of federal civil fraud remedy statutes. In order to be effective, these statutes must be broad enough to punish and deter fraud that often evades detection, wastes taxpayer funds, and negatively impacts government programs.20 On the other hand, if courts interpret a fraud statute so broadly that it imposes civil liability on contractors for minor regulatory violations or ordinary breaches of contract—possibly resulting in a contractor having insufficient notice as to which actions will result in liability21—contractors may decline to compete for government contracts. This could lead to higher prices for the government.

This report provides an overview of federal statutes that provide civil remedies for contractor fraud, as well as issues stemming from judicial interpretation of these statutes.22 These statutes include the civil FCA, anti-fraud provision of the CDA, FFCA,23 and the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act. The report also briefly examines regulatory and judicial developments that have implications for enforcement of the FCA, including the circuit split regarding the calculation of treble damages under the FCA; the Mandatory Disclosure Rule; and the Presumed Loss Rule.

Civil False Claims Act

Congress originally enacted the FCA in 1863 to combat fraud by Civil War defense contractors.24 Since that time, Congress has occasionally adjusted the scope of the FCA's civil liability provisions in response to judicial developments and shifting perceptions of the prevalence of fraud against the federal government.25 In its current form, the FCA imposes civil liability on "any person" who engages in at least one of seven forms of misconduct.26 The FCA authorizes the Attorney General, as well as certain private parties that sue on behalf of the United States under the act's qui tam provisions, to bring a civil action against an alleged violator of the act.27 Liability under the FCA requires no specific proof of intent to defraud.28

Liability under two provisions of the FCA frequently used against contractors requires, among other things, the existence of a "false or fraudulent" claim for payment from the government.29 Some federal courts have developed theories that expand the definition of a "false or fraudulent" claim.30 Under the implied false certification and fraud in the inducement theories, claims for payment that are not explicitly false may become false by implication because of a party's actions or omissions prior to contract formation or during contract performance.31 Some courts have expressed concerns that, under these theories, a defendant could become liable for ordinary breaches of contract or minor regulatory violations.32 Thus, some courts have limited the use of the theories by strictly enforcing the FCA's mental state requirement; the heightened pleading requirements for fraud allegations under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b); or some form of materiality requirement.33

In addition to discussing the scope of liability under the FCA, this section also examines a circuit split involving the method by which courts calculate treble damages under the act when the contractor has provided at least some value to the government.34

Overview

Congress enacted the FCA in 1863 to detect, punish, and deter fraud against the federal government by defense contractors during the Civil War.35 In its current form, the FCA imposes civil liability36 on "any person" who engages in at least one of seven forms of misconduct.37 Parties bringing claims against contractors under the FCA frequently invoke two of the act's provisions. These provisions impose liability for treble damages38 and a civil penalty39 on "any person" who "knowingly40 presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim41 for payment or approval" or "knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim."42 Many federal courts of appeals require parties bringing an FCA cause of action to show that the falsity of the claim or statement is material to the government's (or its intermediary's) decision to pay the claim.43 The party bringing an FCA cause of action against a contractor must prove its elements, including damages, "by a preponderance of the evidence."44 Unlike some of the other federal civil fraud remedy statutes discussed in this report, liability under the FCA requires no specific proof of intent to defraud.45

The FCA authorizes the Attorney General, as well as certain private parties that sue on behalf of the United States under the act's qui tam46 provisions (known as "relators"), to bring a civil action47 against an alleged violator of the act.48 Generally, the Department of Justice (DOJ) may intervene in a relator's suit within a certain time period after receiving the complaint and other material information.49 If the DOJ intervenes, then it conducts the action.50 If the DOJ declines to intervene, the relator may proceed with the action.51 When the DOJ conducts an action initially brought by a relator, the court may award the relator between 15 to 25 percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement of the claim "depending upon the extent to which the person substantially contributed to the prosecution of the action."52 If the government declines to intervene, the relator may receive between 25 and 30 percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement.53

Recent Amendments

Since enacting the FCA, Congress has periodically amended the act to, among other things, change the extent to which the act exposes contractors and other parties to potential civil liability. For example, in 1943, the Supreme Court expanded the reach of the act's qui tam provisions, holding that a relator's action under the FCA could be based solely on knowledge already possessed by the government and made public in a criminal indictment.54 Congress reversed this decision by enacting a law that stripped federal courts of jurisdiction over suits brought by relators when the government already had knowledge of the alleged fraud underlying the relator's complaint.55 In the same law, Congress also limited whistleblower lawsuits by reducing the share of the recovery a relator could obtain in a successful suit.56

By contrast, decades later, Congress sought to strengthen the FCA in the wake of evidence of extensive fraud against the federal government by defense contractors and others.57 In 1986, Congress restored courts' jurisdiction over some qui tam suits based on publicly disclosed information, including suits in which relators were an "original source" of information about the alleged fraud.58 The amendments also relaxed the knowledge standard for liability, making clear that liability required no specific intent to defraud.59

More recently, Congress amended the FCA in response to various judicial developments that some perceived as having weakened the act.60 In 2009, Congress passed the Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act (FERA).61 Among other things, FERA eliminated language suggesting that a false claim must be submitted directly to a federal officer or employee and added a specific materiality element to the act's "false statements" provision.62 Congress made additional amendments to the FCA in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) of 2010 that, among other things, reduced some of the jurisdictional obstacles to qui tam suits.63

Implied False Certification Theory

As described above, one element that the United States or a relator must prove in order to establish a defendant's liability for fraudulent misconduct under sections 3792(a)(1)(A)-(B) of the FCA is that the claim is "false or fraudulent."64 Congress did not define this phrase in the FCA, and thus courts have developed a body of case law interpreting it.65 One formulation of the judicially created implied false certification theory allows the United States or a relator to establish the falsity of a claim for payment even when the claim is not explicitly false66 because "the act of submitting a claim for reimbursement [or payment]67 itself implies compliance with governing federal rules that are a precondition to payment."68

However, courts have not adopted this definition uniformly. Thus, for example, some courts do not mandate that compliance with a law or contractual provision be an express precondition of payment, requiring only that it be material to the government's decision to pay the claim.69 Some courts hold that a violation of a contractual provision may make a claim for payment false under the implied certification theory.70 In addition, a couple of courts that have recognized the theory have done so in cases in which the claimant has previously expressly certified that it would comply with a law.71

Although the government and relators have often used the implied false certification theory in an effort to establish the falsity of claims for payment by contractors, the text of the FCA does not explicitly appear to recognize the theory.72 Moreover, it does not appear that the Supreme Court has addressed the theory's viability. Nevertheless, federal courts of appeals in the First,73 Second, Third, Sixth, Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, and District of Columbia circuits have adopted this theory of falsity in some form.74 Courts that have adopted the theory have found support for it in the FCA's structure75 and legislative history,76 as well as language in Supreme Court opinions about Congress' intent that the FCA encompass a wide range of fraudulent conduct.77

Examples

Decisions by federal courts in FCA cases illustrate attempts to use the implied false certification theory in civil lawsuits against contractors. It appears that the earliest use of the term "implied certification" in an FCA decision occurs in the Court of Federal Claims' 1994 opinion in Ab-Tech Construction, Inc. v. United States.78 In this case, a subcontractor agreed to comply with the eligibility requirements of the Small Business Administration's (SBA's) "8(a) Program" in order to receive a contract from the agency.79 Federal regulations required Ab-Tech to obtain the SBA's approval prior to entering into "any management agreement, joint venture agreement or other agreement relative to the performance of a section 8(a) subcontract."80 The court held that by submitting payment vouchers to the government without disclosing that it had entered into a prohibited contractual arrangement with a non-minority owned business, Ab-Tech falsely and by implication certified compliance with the eligibility regulations that were critical to the government's payment decision.81 This, the court held, resulted in a false claim under the FCA.82 The court reasoned that these claims were false in part because they "caused the Government to pay out funds in the mistaken belief that it was furthering the aims of the 8(a) program."83

Examples of recent implied false certification cases in the procurement context include cases in which parties have alleged that a contractor submitted a claim for payment while failing to comply with contractual provisions (express or implied);84 laws;85 or, most commonly, requirements established by law and contract.86

Limitations on the Theory

Some courts that recognize the implied false certification theory have limited its reach. For example, several federal courts of appeals require that the defendant's compliance with the law or contractual provision it has allegedly violated be a precondition of payment by the government.87 Some of these courts have stated that the FCA is not an "enforcement device" for "minor" violations of law or breaches of contract.88 In addition, at least one commentator has noted that such a requirement makes the contractor aware of which violations of law or contract may result in FCA liability, allowing contractors to focus their resources on monitoring for compliance with these requirements.89 Other courts that recognize the implied certification theory do not mandate that compliance be an express precondition of payment, requiring only that the law or contractual provision be material to the government's decision to pay the claim.90 One commentator has criticized this rule as failing to provide contractors with notice of which requirements they must comply with in order to avoid liability.91

Courts have also imposed limits on defendants' liability for implied false certifications of compliance—at least with contractual provisions—by reference to the FCA's knowledge (or "scienter") requirement.92 For example, in the D.C. Circuit, the United States or relators must show that a defendant knows "(1) that it violated a contractual obligation, and (2) that its compliance with that obligation was material to the government's decision to pay."93 However, when the government pays a claim while possessing knowledge that a contractor has violated a law, regulation, or contractual provision, this may negate the contractor's intent to make a false claim or statement, at least when the government has directed the contractor's participation in, or consented to, the violation.94 In addition, some courts have found that a contractor may lack the requisite knowledge when it has made a plausible but erroneous interpretation of the contract "absent some specific evidence of knowledge that the claim is false or of intent to deceive," at least when the interpretation is not unreasonable.95

Because a cause of action under the FCA alleges fraud, some courts have held that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) requires the government or relator to plead the elements of such actions with sufficient particularity in order to avoid having the actions dismissed by a court for failure to state a claim for relief.96 This requirement is intended to give the defendant fair notice of the fraud it allegedly committed so that the defendant may prepare a response to the claims; narrow the scope of discovery; and protect defendants from harm to their reputations from fraud allegations.97

Fraud in the Inducement Theory

In contrast to the implied false certification theory, which holds that a claim for payment under a government contract becomes false because of a contractor's conduct during contract performance, the fraud in the inducement or "promissory fraud"98 theory holds that a claim for payment becomes false because of fraudulent conduct by the contractor (or other party) prior to contract formation that induced the government to enter into the contract.99 These cases often involve conduct by contractors during the bidding or negotiation process such as collusive bidding; bid-rigging; contracts obtained based on false information, fraudulent pricing, or inflated cost estimates;100 or false representations about the ability to perform.101 Federal courts of appeals that recognize the fraud in the inducement theory of falsity include the Fourth, Fifth, Seventh, Eighth, and Ninth circuits.102

Courts' recognition of the theory may stem in part from concerns that the government will ultimately pay higher prices for goods and services under fraudulently induced contracts.103 For example, many courts adopting the theory have invoked the Supreme Court's decision in United States ex rel. Marcus v. Hess.104 In that case, electrical contractors colluded to remove competition from the bidding process while certifying that their bids were genuine and not collusive.105 The Court wrote that

By their conduct, the respondents thus caused the government to pay claims of the local sponsors in order that they might in turn pay respondents under contracts found to have been executed as the result of the fraudulent bidding. This fraud did not spend itself with the execution of the contract. Its taint entered into every swollen estimate which was the basic cause for payment of every dollar paid by the [government].... The initial fraudulent action and every step thereafter taken pressed ever to the ultimate goal—payment of government money to persons who had caused it to be defrauded.106

Courts also find support for the theory in a Senate committee report accompanying the 1986 amendments to the FCA.107 In this report, the committee wrote that "each and every claim submitted under a contract, loan guarantee, or other agreement which was originally obtained by means of false statements or other corrupt or fraudulent conduct, or in violation of any statute or applicable regulation, constitutes a false claim."108

Allegations of Fraud in the Inducement by Underbidding

A special case of potential fraud in the inducement occurs when a contractor underbids the contract while intending to later seek an increase in the contract price. The Ninth Circuit has held that FCA liability may attach to a contractor's false initial cost estimates under a fraud in the inducement theory.109 In United States ex rel. Hooper v. Lockheed Martin Corp., the relator alleged that Lockheed Martin knowingly underestimated its costs in order to win a cost-reimbursement contract110 for services related to modernizing hardware and software used for space launch operations.111 At the time the Air Force awarded the contract to Lockheed, it knew of the risk that costs would grow.112 Indeed, although Lockheed bid $432 million on the contract, the Air Force ultimately paid the company more than $900 million.113 Lockheed argued that it could not be held liable for making false initial cost estimates, even though Lockheed's management had allegedly told employees to lower their cost estimates without a sound basis, because these estimates amounted to statements of opinion rather than fact.114 The Ninth Circuit disagreed, holding that FCA liability may attach to false estimates, including "fraudulent underbidding in which the bid is not what the defendant actually intends to charge" when the other elements for FCA liability are satisfied.115

A few court decisions provide further insight into this theory of fraud in the inducement. Although submission of inflated bids by contractors may cause the government to spend more money than it would have in a fair and open marketplace,116 some courts have recognized that underbidding may result in higher costs for the government only if the contractor seeks price adjustments above the bid price.117 Thus, one district court has held that an intentionally undervalued bid may not render claims for payment under a fixed-price contract false under an inducement theory unless the contractor subsequently seeks adjustments beyond the bid price to which it is not entitled.118 This holding acknowledges that contractors may "buy-in," or deliberately offer below-cost prices to get an award, hoping that it will lead to future work with a government agency.119 In addition, a contractor might request a price adjustment under a contract for various reasons other than to defraud the government, including that the government has added work to the contract during performance because of changed needs or unforeseen circumstances.120

Other Examples

Decisions by federal courts in FCA cases illustrate the use of the fraud in the inducement theory in civil lawsuits against contractors. These cases involve allegations that a contractor has submitted a claim for payment after inducing the government to enter into the contract by underbidding the contract,121 engaging in bid rigging,122 or participating in collusive bidding.123 In addition, parties have alleged that inducement occurred as a result of false representations made by the contractor about the characteristics of a product, such as its effectiveness and safety;124 performance of the contract;125 record of business ethics or lack of conflicts of interest;126 compliance with the preconditions of contract award;127 compliance with labor laws and regulations;128 financial health;129 and discounts offered to commercial customers.130

Limitations on the Theory

As with the implied certification theory, some courts have limited plaintiffs' use of the fraud in the inducement theory. A couple of courts in the Fourth Circuit have imposed limitations that appear to be intended to prevent ordinary breaches of contract from becoming FCA violations.131 For example, at least one court has held that a plaintiff must allege that the contractor made a false statement in an invoice or claim for payment (rather than merely during the course of bidding or negotiations) for allegations to rise above breach of contract.132 In the Fourth Circuit, a statement may not be false under the FCA if the plaintiff simply alleges neglect of contractual duties or if contract terms are ambiguous and admit of various interpretations.133

Courts have also required that a false record or statement that allegedly induced the contract be material to the government's decision to pay the claim.134 This may require a causal connection between the alleged false records or statements and the submission or payment of a claim.135 Allegations that payment of a kickback has tainted a contract in the absence of a showing that this conduct increased the contract price may be insufficient to state a claim under the FCA.136

Courts have also required that the defendant knowingly took the action that allegedly induced the contract.137 At least one court has inferred the requisite intent when "substantial nonperformance" of contractual duties occurs promptly after contract formation.138 For liability to attach to a promise that allegedly induced a contract, the "promise must be false when made."139 In limited circumstances, government knowledge of a contractor's inaccurate statements prior to the government's payment of a contractor's claim may lead a court to find that the contractor did not knowingly induce a contract by fraud under the FCA.140 In addition, some courts have found that a contractor may lack the requisite knowledge when it has made a plausible but erroneous interpretation of the contract "absent some specific evidence of knowledge that the claim is false or of intent to deceive," at least when the interpretation is not unreasonable.141

Finally, several courts have required plaintiffs pleading falsity under the fraud in the inducement theory to comply with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b).142 Generally, this means that the plaintiff must set forth the circumstances surrounding the alleged inducement with particularity.143 At least one court has held that a plaintiff may not plead fraud in the inducement based on a contractor's failure to disclose information unless the plaintiff alleges that a law or other source explicitly requires disclosure.144

Calculating Treble Damages

In addition to disagreeing about the proper scope of liability under the FCA, courts of appeals have different views about the proper method for calculating treble damages under the act when the defendant (e.g., a contractor) has provided some value to the government.145 The FCA states that, in addition to a civil penalty, a "person" violating the FCA is liable for "[three] times the amount of damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that person."146 The act does not specify how courts should calculate this amount.147 Federal courts of appeals have developed two methods of calculating treble damages in this situation that may result in significant differences in damages.148 The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has referred to these methods as the "net trebling" and "gross trebling" approaches.149

A decision by the Seventh Circuit illustrates the differences in these two approaches. In United States v. Anchor Mortgage Corp., the district court found that a company and its chief executive officer had knowingly provided false information when applying for federal guarantees of home mortgage loans.150 In calculating damages, the district court applied the "gross trebling" approach.151 It trebled the damages that the government had suffered from paying lenders under the guarantees on the defaulted loans and then deducted the amounts the government recovered from selling the properties that secured the loans.152 On appeal, the Seventh Circuit reversed the district court's damages award and held that the district court should have employed the "net trebling" approach.153 Under this method, the district court should have subtracted the amount that the government realized from sale of the collateral properties from the amount the government paid to lenders under the loan guarantees before trebling the damages.154



Table 1. Judicial Approaches to Calculating Treble Damages Under the Civil FCA









	Gross Trebling

(Government's damages x 3) - (Value retained by government) = Treble damages

Example: ($131,643.05 x 3) - $68,200.00 = $326,729.15

Net Trebling

(Government's damages - Value retained by government) x 3 = Treble damages

Example: ($131,643.05 - $68,200.00) x 3 = $190,329.15

Difference in treble damages under the net trebling approach: In this example, the net trebling approach resulted in damages that were about 42% lower than under the gross trebling approach.







Source: United States v. Anchor Mortgage Corp., 711 F.3d 745 (7th Cir. 2013).





The Seventh Circuit sought to justify use of the "net trebling" approach by arguing that calculating damages using net loss is the "norm" in common law contract cases.155 Courts in these cases have often measured damages using the difference between the market price and contract price.156 Thus far, most courts of appeals that have considered the issue favor the "net trebling" approach.157

Contract Disputes Act Anti-Fraud Provision

The Contract Disputes Act of 1978 (CDA) provides administrative and judicial procedures for the resolution of disputes between the government and contractors involving certain contracts awarded by executive agencies.158 In part because of concerns that contractors would submit inflated claims during contract disputes as a "negotiating tactic," Congress added a provision to the CDA imposing a penalty for unsupported claims.159

The Federal Circuit's recent decision in Daewoo Engineering Co., Ltd. v. United States demonstrates that the CDA's anti-fraud provision may result in a significant civil penalty for a contractor when it submits a fraudulent claim to the government during a contract dispute in order to extract a settlement.160

Overview of the CDA

Congress passed the CDA in 1978 in order to provide a fair and efficient system for the resolution of claims and disputes involving contracts awarded by executive agencies.161 The CDA's dispute provisions apply to most express or implied-in-fact contracts made by executive agencies162 for the procurement of property (other than real property in being)163 or services; construction, alteration, repair, or maintenance of real property; or the disposal of personal property.164 Generally, if parties cannot settle a dispute arising under, or relating to, a contract, the prime contractor165 or the government submits a claim166 to the contracting officer for decision.167 When a contractor's claim exceeds $100,000, the contractor or other authorized individual must certify that, among other things, the claim is made in good faith and that "the amount requested accurately reflects the contract adjustment for which the contractor believes the Federal Government is liable."168

The contracting officer's decision on the claim (or a deemed denial because of the officer's failure to decide) becomes final unless the contractor lodges an appeal of an adverse decision within 90 days of the decision to the proper agency board of contract appeals, or files suit within 12 months in the COFC.169 Generally, the contractor—or the agency head with Attorney General approval—may appeal decisions of an agency board of contract appeals or the COFC to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.170 Ultimately, the Supreme Court could grant certiorari.171

Anti-Fraud Provision

The CDA contains an anti-fraud remedy primarily because of concerns that contractors would submit inflated claims during contract disputes as a "negotiating tactic," leading the government to settle these claims instead of using its limited resources to evaluate them on the merits.172 During hearings on the CDA, Admiral Hyman G. Rickover testified that some Navy contractors had circumvented competitive bidding procedures by underbidding in order to win contracts and later submitting equitable adjustment claims to recover the amounts by which their costs exceeded their bid prices.173 Congress added the anti-fraud provision to the CDA in an effort to address these concerns and to supplement the government's remedies under the FCA and Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act (FFCA) by making it so that "the larger the fraud attempted, the greater is the liability to the Government."174 The CDA's anti-fraud provision states that

If a contractor is unable to support any part of the contractor's claim and it is determined that the inability is attributable to a misrepresentation of fact or fraud by the contractor, then the contractor is liable to the Federal Government for an amount equal to the unsupported part of the claim plus all of the Federal Government's costs attributable to reviewing the unsupported part of the claim.175 Liability under this paragraph shall be determined within 6 years of the commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud.176

Agency boards of contract appeals and contracting officers generally lack jurisdiction over fraud claims brought under the CDA's anti-fraud provision.177 However, the COFC has jurisdiction over government counterclaims brought under the CDA's anti-fraud provision regardless of whether the contracting officer has issued a final decision on the CDA claim.178

The CDA defines "misrepresentation of fact" as "a false statement of substantive fact, or conduct that leads to a belief of a substantive fact material to proper understanding of the matter in hand, made with intent to deceive or mislead."179 The government must prove falsity and intent by a preponderance of the evidence.180 The statute of limitations for government claims against a contractor under the CDA's anti-fraud provision is six years after the claim accrues.181

Although courts have interpreted the CDA's anti-fraud provision in only a few cases, the Federal Circuit and Court of Federal Claims have suggested ways in which a contractor may avoid liability under the provision. For example, a contractor could potentially avoid liability by taking "reasonable steps to verify the claim."182 In addition, a contractor that submits a claim based on a plausible legal interpretation of a contractual provision may avoid liability even if a court finds that the interpretation is incorrect "absent some specific evidence of knowledge that the claim is false or of intent to deceive."183 If a contractor remains unsure about the proper interpretation of a contract, the Federal Circuit has indicated that the contractor should ask the government for clarification.184

Daewoo Engineering and Construction Co., Ltd. v. United States

The Federal Circuit Court of Appeals' decision in Daewoo Engineering Co., Ltd. v. United States demonstrates that the CDA's anti-fraud provision may result in a significant civil penalty for a contractor that submits a fraudulent claim to the government without taking steps to verify and justify its certified claim.185  In this case, the United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) awarded Daewoo a contract to build a road in the Republic of Palau.186 In order to build the road, Daewoo had to compact moist soil in rainy weather, which posed a significant challenge within the agreed upon time constraints.187 Daewoo experienced several problems with compacting the soil, leading it to fall behind schedule in its performance of the contract.188

As its contract performance problems continued, Daewoo filed a certified CDA claim with the contracting officer seeking a $64 million increase in the contract price.189 Daewoo alleged that the contract contained a "misleading weather-delay clause;" that the government had withheld "superior knowledge" about its "weather-delay calculation methods;" and that the contract was impossible to perform, among other things.190 Daewoo's claim included incurred costs of about $13 million and projected costs of about $50 million.191 When the contracting officer denied Daewoo's claim, the company brought suit against the government in the COFC for almost $64 million in damages, arguing that the USACE had misrepresented the extent of poor weather conditions at the construction site.192 The United States asserted that the contractor's claim was fraudulent and sought penalties and forfeitures in counterclaims under the FCA, the CDA's anti-fraud provision, and the Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act (FFCA).193

Court of Federal Claims' Decision

The COFC first considered Daewoo's CDA claims and rejected them.194 Next, the COFC considered the government's fraud counterclaims.195 It found Daewoo liable under the CDA's anti-fraud provision because Daewoo had acted in bad faith by using its claim as a "negotiating ploy" to extract a settlement offer from the government without believing that the government actually owed it $50 million in projected costs.196 The COFC entered judgment for the government for $50 million for the CDA violation, and held that Daewoo's claims under the contract were forfeited pursuant to the FFCA (although it had not found them to be supported anyway).197 However, the COFC entered judgment for the government for only $10,000 for the contractor's FCA violation because the court could not establish that the government had suffered losses.198 Daewoo appealed to the Federal Circuit.199

Federal Circuit Court of Appeals' Decision

On appeal before the Federal Circuit, Daewoo raised two main arguments. First, the contractor maintained that it had not made a "claim" under the CDA for the $64 million in total costs because it did not seek the funds as a "matter of right" but rather presented the number as an estimate "to encourage the government to adjust the contract specifications."200 The Federal Circuit rejected this argument, declining to find the lower court's factual determination that Daewoo had made a "claim" for these costs to be clearly erroneous, in significant part because of testimony by Daewoo's project manager confirming that Daewoo had made a $64 million claim.201

Next, Daewoo argued that even if it had made a "claim" for the $50 million in projected costs, the claim was not fraudulent.202 The Federal Circuit rejected this argument as well, and, like the COFC, held that Daewoo had committed fraud.203 However, the appeals court reached this result for slightly different reasons than the lower court.204 The Federal Circuit held that Daewoo had committed fraud because the contractor's calculation of its claim for $50 million in projected costs "assumed the government was responsible for each day of additional performance beyond the original 1080-day contract period, without even considering whether there was any contractor-caused delay or delay for which the government was not responsible."205 In addition, the appeals court noted that Daewoo did not use outside experts to calculate the amount of its claim and neglected to explain how it arrived at the claimed amount during trial.206 Finally, Daewoo had certified that the claim was accurate and made in good faith.207 In upholding the $50 million penalty under the CDA's anti-fraud provision, the Federal Circuit rejected Daewoo's arguments that the penalty violated the Eighth and Fifth amendments of the U.S. Constitution.208

Other Examples

Other examples of cases in which the government has alleged that a contractor violated the CDA's anti-fraud provision have involved a contractor's purported submission of false, inflated, or duplicative claims,209 including when the contractor allegedly misrepresented costs under a contract,210 sought payment for products that did not conform with specifications,211 misrepresented that it was an approved source,212 or misrepresented its eligibility to perform the contract.213

Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act

The Forfeiture of Fraudulent Claims Act (FFCA), or "special plea in fraud" statute, generally allows the government to assert a counterclaim214 seeking forfeiture of fraudulent claims brought against it in the COFC.215 This penalty exists as a condition of the government's waiver of its sovereign immunity from suit.216 Congress enacted the FFCA as part of an 1863 law that granted new powers to the Court of Claims.217 The FFCA states that "A claim against the United States shall be forfeited to the United States by any person who corruptly practices or attempts to practice any fraud against the United States in the proof, statement, establishment, or allowance thereof."

In such cases the United States Court of Federal Claims shall specifically find such fraud or attempt and render judgment of forfeiture.218

Judicial interpretations have clarified the elements of the special plea in fraud, as well as its mental state requirement, burden of proof, and application. The Federal Circuit has held that the government must prove that the contractor knowingly219 submitted a false claim with an intent to defraud it, and thus the government does not have to show that it relied on the claim or suffered injury from it.220 The burden of proof for the government is "clear and convincing evidence," a higher standard than preponderance of the evidence.221 Under the FFCA, if the court finds part of a claim under a contract to be fraudulent and submitted with the requisite mental state, the court must render judgment of forfeiture on all claims under that contract.222 At least one court has sought to justify such a holding on the grounds that separating the claims tainted by fraud from those untainted by fraud is impossible.223

A few significant disagreements over the proper interpretation of the FFCA have arisen over the years. For example, courts disagree about whether fraud sufficient for forfeiture may involve fraud in connection with the execution or performance of the contract in addition to fraud related to submission of a claim.224 The Federal Circuit appears to have recently held that the government may establish a violation of the FFCA only when the alleged fraud relates to the submission of a claim, stating that the "neighboring provisions illustrate that the forfeiture statute is best understood as a companion requirement of claims procedure rather than a catch-all anti-fraud provision."225 Courts also disagree over whether the FFCA is subject to the general statute of limitations for claims over which the COFC has jurisdiction.226

A few recent examples of cases in which the government has sought forfeiture of a contractor's claims because of purported fraudulent conduct include allegations that the contractor submitted "several inconsistent explanations for its added costs" and knowingly claimed unrecoverable lost profits;227 used amounts in purchase orders as actual costs in its claim when related invoices showed lower costs;228 and asserted that it was an approved source to obtain two purchase orders.229

Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act

The Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act (PFCRA) provides an administrative process under which certain federal agencies may obtain civil remedies and assessments from "persons" who knowingly make false, fraudulent, or fictitious claims or statements to the agencies.230 The act's legislative history suggests that Congress intended the PFCRA to remedy the "small-dollar cases" of fraud that the Department of Justice (DOJ) had declined to pursue in court because of litigation costs.231 Thus, an agency may not use the administrative process contained in the PFCRA when the amount of money, property, or services demanded in a claim (or group of related claims) exceeds $150,000.232

The PFCRA shares some structural similarities with the FCA.233 Like the FCA, it allows for the imposition of civil penalties on violators for false claims or statements, as well as an assessment on violators when the government has paid the claim.234 As with the FCA, liability under the PFCRA requires no specific intent to defraud, and thus a party may violate the FCA when it acts with reckless disregard of a claim or statement's truth or falsity.235

However, unlike the FCA, the PFCRA establishes a mostly administrative process for recovery of civil remedies rather than a judicial one. The PFCRA provides for agency officials to investigate and review allegations of false claims or statements and ultimately requires the approval of a certain official from DOJ for the case to be referred to an Administrative Law Judge or other hearing officer.236 The act provides the person alleged to be liable with notice and the opportunity for a hearing on the record.237 The agency must prove its allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.238 A decision on liability or damages by the hearing officer may be appealed to the agency head within 30 days after the hearing officer issues a written decision, and, ultimately, to federal district court within 60 days of the agency head's decision.239

Few federal agencies use the PFCRA, according to a recent study by the Government Accountability Office (GAO).240 The study found that from FY2006 through FY2010, five civilian agencies referred 141 cases to DOJ for approval.241 Of these cases, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development referred 135, or 96 percent.242 A 2008 report by the National Procurement Fraud Task Force recommended several reforms to the PFCRA designed to increase its use by federal agencies and its effectiveness at deterring fraud.243 These reforms include incentivizing agencies to use the PFCRA by increasing the act's jurisdictional cap to $500,000 and the civil penalty limit to $15,000; allowing agencies to retain recovered funds instead of depositing them into the Treasury Miscellaneous Receipts account; and simplifying the act's procedural requirements.244

Recent Regulatory Developments

This section briefly considers two recent regulatory developments that may affect contractors' potential exposure to civil liability and/or damages under the FCA. Among other things, the Mandatory Disclosure Rule allows an agency to suspend or debar a contractor for failing to timely disclose to the government certain violations of federal law related to a contract or subcontract, including violations of the FCA.245 Generally, the Presumed Loss Rule states that when a business willfully misrepresents its size or status in order to obtain certain small business contracting preferences, there is a presumption that the United States has suffered losses equal to the amount that the government has spent on the contract.246

Mandatory Disclosure Rule

In part to implement a statutory mandate contained in the Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2008,247 the Civilian Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense Acquisition Regulations Council (the Councils) amended the FAR to, among other things, require contractors to disclose certain violations of federal law related to a contract or subcontract.248 This "Mandatory Disclosure Rule" allows an agency to suspend or debar a contractor for

Knowing failure by a principal, until 3 years after final payment on any Government contract awarded to the contractor, to timely disclose to the Government, in connection with the award, performance, or closeout of the contract or a subcontract thereunder, credible evidence of—

(A) Violation of Federal criminal law involving fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, or gratuity violations found in Title 18 of the United States Code;

(B) Violation of the civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. 3729-3733); or

(C) Significant overpayment(s) on the contract, other than overpayments resulting from contract financing payments as defined in [48 C.F.R. §32.001].249

Many government contracts must now include language requiring contractors to, among other things, timely disclose civil FCA violations related to the contract (or a subcontract under the contract) when the contractor has "credible evidence" that a principal of the contractor or one of certain other parties has committed such a violation.250 The provision states that disclosure must be made in writing to the relevant agency Office of the Inspector General and contracting officer.251

During the rulemaking for the Mandatory Disclosure Rule, commenters expressed concerns that contractors would have difficulty in disclosing violations of the civil FCA because courts have reached different conclusions about what kind of conduct constitutes a violation.252 The Councils responded that "[g]enuine disputes over the proper application of the civil FCA may be considered in evaluating whether the contractor knowingly failed to disclose a violation of the civil FCA."253 Commenters also argued that mandatory disclosure of violations would facilitate lawsuits against contractors by qui tam relators.254 The Councils responded that "[t]imely disclosure of a knowing violation offers the contractor an opportunity to demonstrate its present responsibility to avoid suspension or debarment, and to obtain a reduction in damages under the civil FCA."255

Presumed Loss Rule

Businesses that fraudulently obtain sole-source or set-aside contracts256 by misrepresenting their size or status prevent legitimate small businesses from receiving these contracts.257 In 2010, Congress amended the Small Business Act in an effort to address this issue.258 The SBA implemented these amendments in a 2013 rule.259

The "Presumed Loss Rule," which is codified throughout Title 13 of the Code of Federal Regulations, states in part that when a business willfully misrepresents its size or status in order to establish its eligibility for award of a contract or subcontract260 "set aside, reserved, or otherwise classified as intended for award to" business concerns with a particular size or status,261 there is a presumption that the United States has suffered losses equal to the amount that the government has spent on the contract.262 A business is deemed to have made a willful certification of business size or status when it (1) submits a bid, proposal, or offer for a federal contract or subcontract set-aside or reserved for businesses of a particular size or status; (2) submits a bid, proposal, or offer for a federal contract or subcontract that "in any way encourages a Federal agency to classify the bid or proposal, if awarded, as an award to" a business of a particular size or status; or (3) registers on a federal electronic database as a business of a particular size or status in order to be considered for award of a federal contract or subcontract.263 The rule allows a trier of fact to determine that the presumption of loss does not apply in certain situations, such as when the contractor's misrepresentations stem from unintentional errors.264

The Presumed Loss Rule may have significant implications in FCA suits in which the government or a relator alleges that a contractor fraudulently induced the government to award the contractor a set-aside or sole-source contract by misrepresenting its size or status, or that a contractor made an implied false certification by submitting a claim for payment after having failed to comply with federal regulations governing size or status representations.265 In the past, the COFC has declined to impose damages when the contractor failed to comply with the eligibility requirements of the SBA's 8(a) Program.266 The court stated that "damages represent compensation for a loss or injury sustained" and that, because the government "got essentially what it paid for," the government had not suffered damages as a result of the contractor's failure to comply with the eligibility requirements.267 Under the Presumed Loss Rule, however, a court facing the same set of facts would probably hold the contractor liable for three times the amount that the government paid on the contract.

Conclusion

Preventing contractor fraud without deterring contractors' willingness to compete for government contracts poses a challenge for the federal government because fraud takes a variety of forms and can be difficult to detect and prosecute with limited resources.268 Several federal statutes allow the federal government—and in some instances, private parties—to recover damages, civil penalties, or forfeitures for false or fraudulent claims for payment and other misconduct.269 Some Members of Congress, courts, and others have continued to debate the proper scope of liability under these civil fraud statutes.270 Congress may enact laws that alter the scope of these statutes and, at least with respect to the FCA, has done so many times.271

Much of the debate about the scope of fraud statutes has focused on the FCA, the federal government's primary civil fraud remedy.272 Two recent court-created theories have further expanded the scope of defendants' liability under the FCA273—a statute which the Supreme Court has characterized as imposing "damages that are essentially punitive in nature."274 Some commentators have expressed concerns that judicial recognition of these theories could allow the government or relators to recover tort-like damages for defendants' minor breaches of contract.275 However, some of the courts that recognize these theories have limited their use by strictly enforcing the FCA's mental state requirement; the heightened pleading requirements for fraud allegations under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b); or some form of materiality requirement.276 Other recent regulatory and judicial developments may also affect contractors' potential exposure to civil liability and damages under the FCA.277

Contractors' submission of fraudulent claims during the contract disputes process poses additional challenges for the government. Federal statutory civil remedies for this type of contractor fraud exist as a condition of the government's waiver of its sovereign immunity from suit,278 and as a means of deterring fraud against federal agencies that lack the resources to thoroughly evaluate contractor claims that may have been submitted in an effort to extract a settlement offer from the government.279 Fair resolution of contract disputes by courts, including resolution of government counterclaims alleging fraud, helps ensure that contractors will continue to compete for the government's business.280
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	Id. at §3730(d)(2). Regardless of whether the government intervenes, a prevailing relator shall receive "reasonable expenses which the court finds to have been necessarily incurred, plus reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. All such expenses, fees, and costs shall be awarded against the defendant." Id. at §3730(d)(1)-(2). However, if the relator planned and initiated the violation that served as the basis for the FCA suit, the court may reduce the award. Id. at §3730(d)(3). If the relator was convicted of criminal conduct related to the violation of the FCA upon which suit is brought, the relator must be dismissed from the action and is ineligible to receive any proceeds. Id.
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	United States ex rel. Marcus v. Hess, 317 U.S. 537, 545 (1943) ("Even if, as the government suggests, the petitioner has contributed nothing to the discovery of this crime, he has contributed much to accomplishing one of the purposes for which the Act was passed.").
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	P.L. 78-213, 57 Stat. 608, 609 (1943) ("The court shall have no jurisdiction to proceed with any such [qui tam] suit ... whenever it shall be made to appear that such suit was based upon evidence or information in the possession of the United States ...").
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	S.Rept. 99-345, at 2-3 (1986) ("In 1985 ... 45 of the 100 largest defense contractors, including 9 of the top 10, were under investigation for multiple fraud offenses. Additionally, the Justice Department has reported that in the last year, four of the largest defense contractors ... have been convicted of criminal offenses while another ... has been indicted and awaits trial.... The Department of Justice has estimated fraud as draining 1 to 10 percent of the entire Federal budget. Taking into account the spending level in 1985 of nearly $1 trillion, fraud against the Government could be costing taxpayers anywhere from $10 to $100 billion annually.") (citations omitted); see also H.Rept. 99-660, at 18 (1986).
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	False Claims Amendments Act of 1986, P.L. 99-562 §3, 100 Stat. 3153, 3157 (1986).
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	60.
	S.Rept. 111-10, at 4 (2009) ("The effectiveness of the False Claims Act has recently been undermined by court decisions which limit the scope of the law and, in some cases, allow subcontractors paid with Government money to escape responsibility for proven frauds. The False Claims Act must be corrected and clarified in order to protect from fraud the Federal assistance and relief funds expended in response to our current economic crisis.").
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	Id. at §4, 123 Stat. at 1621-25, codified at 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)-(B), (b)(4). Other than adding a statutory materiality requirement to the "false statements" provision, it does not appear that these changes will significantly affect the viability of the implied false certification and fraud in the inducement theories of falsity. Courts disagree about retroactive application of FERA's amendment to the FCA's "false statements" provision. See P.L. 111-21 §4, 123 Stat. 1617, 1625 ("[S]ubparagraph (B) of section 3729(a)(1) of title 31, United States Code ... shall take effect as if enacted on June 7, 2008, and apply to all claims under the False Claims Act ... that are pending on or after that date."); United States ex rel. SNAPP, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 618 F.3d 505, 509 n.2 (6th Cir. 2010) ("It is unsettled, however, whether the retroactive effect mandated by Congress applies to 'claims' in the sense of demands made via litigation or 'claims' as defined by the FCA.") (citation omitted); U.S. ex rel. Sanders v. Allison Engine Co., 667 F. Supp. 2d 747, 758 (S.D. Ohio 2009) ("[R]etroactive application of the new FCA language to these Defendants violates the Ex Post Facto Clause [of the Constitution].").
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	A claim would be explicitly false if, for example, it contained an "incorrect description of goods or services provided or a request for reimbursement for goods or services never provided." United States ex rel. Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687, 697 (2d Cir. 2001); United States ex rel. Wilkins v. United Health Group, Inc., 659 F.3d 295, 305 (3rd Cir. 2011).
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	E.g., United States v. Sci. Applications Int'l Corp., 626 F.3d 1257, 1269 (D.C. Cir. 2010); Ab-Tech Construction, Inc. v. United States, 31 Fed. Cl. 429, 433-34 (1994) ("The withholding of such information—information critical to the decision to pay—is the essence of a false claim."), aff'd, 57 F.3d 1084 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (unpublished table decision). The First Circuit, which does not recognize the implied false certification theory by name, does not require that a claim "fail to comply with a precondition of payment expressly stated in a statute or regulation" in order for it to be false or fraudulent because the text of the FCA does not contain such a requirement. United States ex rel. Hutcheson v. Blackstone Med., Inc., 647 F.3d 377, 379 (1st Cir. 2011).
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	See, e.g., United States ex rel. Lemmon v. Envirocare of Utah, Inc., 614 F.3d 1163, 1170 (10th Cir. 2010) ("Even if Plaintiffs failed to state a claim arising directly from Envirocare's regulatory obligations, Plaintiffs' allegations provided more than enough factual detail to support their contract-based claims."); Sci. Applications Int'l Corp., 626 F.3d at 1269 ("Instead, we hold that to establish the existence of a 'false or fraudulent' claim on the basis of implied certification of a contractual condition, the FCA plaintiff—here the government—must show that the contractor withheld information about its noncompliance with material contractual requirements."). At least one district court has held that FCA liability may attach under the implied certification theory only when the contractual term the defendant allegedly failed to comply with is "clear and unambiguous." United States v. DRC, Inc., 856 F. Supp. 2d 159, 170 (D.D.C. 2012).
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	To justify recognition of the implied false certification theory, courts often point to language in a Senate committee report accompanying the 1986 amendments to the FCA. See, e.g., Wilkins, 659 F.3d at 306; Mikes, 274 F.3d at 699. The committee report states that the act is "intended to reach all fraudulent attempts to cause the Government to pay out sums of money or to deliver property or services," and that a false claim "may take many forms, the most common being a claim for goods or services not provided, or provided in violation of contract terms, specification, statute, or regulation." S.Rept. 99-345, at 9 (1986) (emphasis added).
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	United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, Inc., 735 F.3d 202, 206 (5th Cir. 2013) (implied warranty of merchantibility); United States v. Sci. Applications Int'l Corp., 626 F.3d 1257, 1261 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (prohibition on conflicts of interest); United States v. DRC, Inc., 856 F. Supp. 2d 159, 169-70 (D.D.C. 2012) (provision requiring approval from government agency prior to subcontracting work); United States v. First Choice Armor & Equipment, Inc., 808 F. Supp. 2d 68, 76 (D.D.C. 2011) (implied warranty requirements for body armor); United States v. Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 800 F. Supp. 2d 143, 156 (D.D.C. 2011) (contract provision allegedly prohibiting the charging of expenses for private security); United States v. Honeywell Int'l Inc., 798 F. Supp. 2d 12, 20 (D.D.C. 2011) (implied five-year warranty against defects for bulletproof vests).
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	United States ex rel. Kirk v. Schindler Elevator Corp., 601 F.3d 94, 98, 115 (2d Cir. 2010) (Vietnam Era Veterans Readjustment Assistance Act, which "requires contractors doing business with federal government entities to submit annual reports to the Secretary of Labor providing information about the number of veterans employed by the contractor"); United States ex rel. Siewick v. Jamieson Sci. and Engineering, 214 F.3d 1372, 1374 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (criminal statute "aimed at 'revolving door' abuses by former government employees"); United States ex rel. Dyer v. Raytheon Co., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135691, *1 (D. Ma. Sept. 23, 2013) (provisions of the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) governing reimbursement for incentive compensation).
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	United States ex rel. Lemmon v. Envirocare of Utah, Inc., 614 F.3d 1163, 1166 (10th Cir. 2010) (contractual provisions requiring adherence to regulatory requirements regarding waste disposal); Shaw v. AAA Engineering & Drafting, Inc., 213 F.3d 519, 527 & n.7 (10th Cir. 2000) (contractual and legal requirements regarding silver recovery and disposal of fixer); United States ex rel. McLain v. Fluor Enters., Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 161142, *5, 14 (E.D. La. Nov. 12, 2013) (contract requiring compliance with state and local regulations "governing handling and installation of liquefied petroleum tanks"); United States ex rel. Thomas v. Black & Veatch Special Projects Corp., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104826, *2-3 (D. Kan. July 26, 2013) (contractual provision requiring compliance with Afghan law when obtaining work permits for employees); United States ex rel. Winkler v. BAE Systems, Inc., 957 F. Supp. 2d 856, 868 (E.D. Mich. 2013) (minimum performance standards for brakes for military vehicles); United State ex rel. Head v. The Kane Company, 798 F. Supp. 2d 186, 199 (D.D.C. 2011) (contract terms that required compliance with the Service Contract Act's minimum wage requirements); United States ex rel. Chabot v. MLU Servs., Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38045, *5-6 (M.D. Fla. April 18, 2010) (contractual provision requiring compliance with state and local licensing requirements for construction activity); United States ex rel. Compton v. Circle B Enters., Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22749, *20 (M.D. Ga. March 11, 2010) (contractual provision and the Anti-Kickback Act); United States ex rel. Smith v. Boeing, 505 F. Supp. 2d 974, 979-80 (D. Kan. 2007) (contract specifications, statutes, rules, and other requirements for aircraft parts); United States ex rel. Holder v. Special Devices, Inc., 296 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1169 (C.D. Ca. 2003) (contractual requirements mandating compliance with environmental and health and safety regulations).
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	E.g., United States ex rel. Wilkins v. United Health Group, 659 F.3d 295, 309 (3d Cir. 2011) ("[T]o plead a claim upon which relief could be granted under a false certification theory, either express or implied, a plaintiff must show that compliance with the regulation which the defendant allegedly violated was a condition of payment from the Government."); Chesbrough v. VPA, P.C., 655 F.3d 461, 468 (6th Cir. 2011) ("[I]t is not the violation of a regulation itself that creates a cause of action under the FCA. Rather, noncompliance constitutes actionable fraud only when compliance is a prerequisite to obtaining payment."); Kirk, 601 F.3d at 114 (stating that "[a]n implied false certification takes place where a statute expressly conditions payment on compliance with a given statute or regulation, and the contractor, while failing to comply with the statute or regulation (and while knowing that compliance is required), submits a claim for payment."); United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, Inc., 625 F.3d 262, 269 (5th Cir. 2010) (holding, without adopting the implied certification theory, that "a false certification of compliance, without more, does not give rise to a false claim for payment unless payment is conditioned on compliance" in statutes, regulations, or contracts); United States ex rel. Conner v. Salina Reg'l Health Ctr., 543 F.3d 1211, 1218 (10th Cir. 2008) (stating that courts examine whether "the underlying contracts, statutes, or regulations themselves ... make compliance a prerequisite to the government's payment."); United States ex rel. Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687, 700 (2d Cir. 2001) ("[I]mplied false certification is appropriately applied only when the underlying statute or regulation upon which the plaintiff relies expressly states the provider must comply in order to be paid.") (citation omitted) (emphasis retained).
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	E.g., United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, Inc., 735 F.3d 202, 205-06 (5th Cir. 2013) (quoting United States ex rel. Thompson v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 125 F.3d 899, 902 (5th Cir. 1997)); Mikes, 274 F.3d at 697 (stating that the FCA "does not encompass those instances of regulatory noncompliance that are irrelevant to the government's disbursement decisions."). A district court found support for the express-condition-of-payment requirement in the general tort principle that "a plaintiff making a tort claim based on a statutory violation must have suffered an injury of the type the statute was designed to prevent." KBR, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 156 (citation omitted) (emphasis retained).
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	Christopher L. Martin, Jr., Reining in Lincoln's Law: A Call to Limit the Implied Certification Theory of Liability Under the False Claims Act, 101 Cal. L. Rev. 227, 263, 266 (2013) ("The express condition-of-payment requirement provides fair notice by giving contractors ex ante warning of the contract breaches and statutory and regulatory violations that could give rise to False Claims Act liability.").
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	E.g., United States v. Sci. Applications Int'l Corp., 626 F.3d 1257, 1269 (D.C. Cir. 2010) ("[T]o establish the existence of a 'false or fraudulent' claim on the basis of implied certification of a contractual condition, the FCA plaintiff ... must show that the contractor withheld information about its noncompliance with material contractual requirements. The existence of express contractual language specifically linking compliance to eligibility for payment may well constitute dispositive evidence of materiality, but it is not ... a necessary condition. The plaintiff may establish materiality in other ways, such as through testimony demonstrating that both parties to the contract understood that payment was conditional on compliance with the requirement at issue."). The D.C. Circuit acknowledged that this could potentially allow minor contractual violations to become the basis of an FCA claim but wrote that courts should use the act's materiality and scienter requirements to avoid this result. Id. at 1270; see also Ab-Tech Construction, Inc. v. United States, 31 Fed. Cl. 429, 433-34 (1994) ("The withholding of such information—information critical to the decision to pay—is the essence of a false claim."), aff'd, 57 F.3d 1084 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (unpublished table decision).

The First Circuit, which does not recognize the implied false certification theory by name, does not require that a claim "fail to comply with a precondition of payment expressly stated in a statute or regulation" in order for it to be false or fraudulent because the text of the FCA does not contain such a requirement. United States ex rel. Hutcheson v. Blackstone Med., Inc., 647 F.3d 377, 379 (1st Cir. 2011).
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	Id. at 1271. Similarly, the Sixth Circuit has held that "when FCA liability is premised on an implied certification of compliance with a contract, the FCA nonetheless requires that the contractor knew, or recklessly disregarded a risk, that its implied certification of compliance was false." United States ex rel. Augustine v. Century Health Servs., Inc., 289 F.3d 409, 416 (6th Cir. 2002) (quoting Shaw v. AAA Engineering & Drafting, Inc., 213 F.3d 519, 533 (10th Cir. 2000)).
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	See, e.g., United States ex rel. Butler v. Hughes Helicopters, Inc., 71 F.3d 321, 327 (9th Cir. 1995) ("[I]f the district court correctly found that the only reasonable conclusion a jury could draw from the evidence was that MDHC and the Army had so completely cooperated and shared all information during the testing that MDHC did not 'knowingly' submit false claims, then we must affirm the directed verdict. We examine the individual statements below to determine whether, if they are arguably false, the government's knowledge of their deficiencies negates MDHC's intent."); United States ex rel. Hagood v. Sonoma County Water Agency, 929 F.2d 1416, 1421 (9th Cir. 1991) ("[T]he knowledge possessed by officials of the United States may be highly relevant. Such knowledge may show that the defendant did not submit its claim in deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of the truth."); Ulysses, Inc. v. United States, 110 Fed. Cl. 618, 647 (2013). But see Shaw, 213 F.3d at 535 (holding that the "government's alleged knowledge of Defendants' actions therefore does not, as a matter of law, negate the evidence of Defendants' intent to submit a false record in support of a claim.").
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	E.g., Commercial Contractors, Inc. v. United States, 154 F.3d 1357, 1366 (Fed. Cir. 1998); United States v. Southland Mgmt. Corp., 326 F.3d 669, 684 (5th Cir. 2003) ("Where there are legitimate grounds for disagreement over the scope of a contractual or regulatory provision, and the claimant's actions are in good faith, the claimant cannot be said to have knowingly presented a false claim.") (citation omitted).




	96.
	Chesbrough v. VPA, P.C., 655 F.3d 461, 472 (6th Cir. 2011) ("The Chesbroughs have no personal knowledge that claims for nondiagnostic tests were presented to the government, nor do they allege facts that strongly support an inference that such billings were submitted. We therefore conclude that the Chesbroughs' complaint fails to satisfy Rule 9(b)"). The Fifth Circuit has stated that Rule 9(b) requires a plaintiff to provide the "who, what, when, where, and how of the alleged fraud." United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, Inc., 735 F.3d 202, 204 (5th Cir. 2013) (citation omitted). For implied false certification claims, the Fifth Circuit has stated that a plaintiff must specifically establish that the government has conditioned payment on a certification of compliance. Id. at 207. According to the Tenth Circuit, "claims under the FCA need only show the specifics of a fraudulent scheme and provide an adequate basis for a reasonable inference that false claims were submitted as part of that scheme." United States ex rel. Lemmon v. Envirocare of Utah, Inc., 614 F.3d 1163, 1172 (10th Cir. 2010) (citations omitted). See generally Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) ("In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other conditions of a person's mind may be alleged generally.").
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	103.
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